

Review

Jinhua Sun^{a,b}, Jerome J. Maller^b, Lanting Guo^a, Paul B. Fitzgerald^{b,*}

^aDepartment of Psychiatry, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, 610041 Chengdu City, Sichuan Province, PR China ^bMonash Alfred Psychiatry Research Centre, The Alfred and Monash University School of Psychology, Psychiatry and Psychological Medicine, 3181 Melbourne Victoria, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Accepted 30 March 2009 Available online 5 April 2009

Keywords: Schizophrenia Superior temporal gyrus Heschl's gyrus Planum temporale MRI, Volume

ABSTRACT

Imaging studies of schizophrenia (SCZ) have repeatedly demonstrated volume differences in superior temporal gyrus (STG) and its subregions. Among them, some studies employed the Region of Interest (ROI) method. We carried out a systematic review of the published literature on STG volumetry MRI studies to examine the potential of ROI method for identifying specific structural differences and correlations with clinical variables including hallucinations and thought disorder symptoms in SCZ. Forty-six studies were identified as suitable for review and analysis including 1444 patients with SCZ and 1327 controls. Female and left-handed subjects are under-represented in the literature and insight from sex and handedness differences may be lost. Thirty-five studies reported significant differences in STG or subregional volumes including bilateral or unilateral ROI, and volume reduction was the most common change in SCZ. Thirty studies reported correlations between volume changes and clinical symptoms or syndromes and 18 found positive results. Among them, left STG or subregions appear to be more involved in the generation of hallucinations and thought disorder than right side. The majority of five follow-up studies found evidence of progressive changes in volumes. Clinical heterogeneity, MRI acquisition parameters, anatomical landmarks for ROI, and sample characteristics, are likely to be the main factors leading to heterogeneous results. Clearly this research links pathophysiological changes in the STG with the development of hallucinations and thought disorder in patients with SCZ, especially in the left side. There is a suggestion that these changes may be progressive but this requires more thorough and comprehensive assessment.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

0165-0173/\$ – see front matter © 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.brainresrev.2009.03.004

 $^{^{}st}$ Competing interests statement: The authors declare that they have no competing financial interests.

^{*} Corresponding author. The Monash Alfred Psychiatry Research Centre, Level One, Old Baker Building, The Alfred Hospital, Commercial Road, Prahran, 3181 Victoria, Australia. Fax: +61 3 9076 6558.

E-mail address: p.fitzgerald@alfred.org.au (P.B. Fitzgerald).

Abbreviations: AH, auditory hallucination; BA, Brodman's areas; BPRS, Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; DBM, deformation-based morphometry; DSM, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders; ERP, Evoked Response Potentials; GM, grey matter; GMV, grey matter volume; H, hallucination; HG, Heschl's gyrus; ICV, intracranial volume; ICC, intraclass correlation coefficients; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; PT, Planum temporale; PP, Planum polare; ROI, Region of Interest; SCZ, schizophrenia; STS, superior temporal sulcus; STP, superior temporal plane; STG, Superior temporal gyrus; TD, thought disorder; TBV, total brain volume; TCV, total cerebral volume; VBM, voxel-based morphometry; WM, white matter; WMV, white matter volume

Contents

1.	Introduction								
2.	Metho	hods							
	2.1.	Search strategy and inclusion/exclusion criteria							
	2.2.	Review process and data analysis.							
3.	Resul	ts							
	3.1.	Demographic characteristics							
	3.2.	General clinical information.							
	3.3.	MRI methods							
	3.4.	Information about ROIs							
		3.4.1. Categories of ROIs or subregions of STG							
		3.4.2. Anatomical landmarks for ROI tracing							
		3.4.3. Image planes tracing							
		3.4.4. Volumetric correction							
		3.4.5. Reliability of tracing ROI							
	3.5.	5. Main findings in STG or its subregional volume changes when compared with controls							
	3.6.	. Main finding in correlation between STG and or its subregional volumes and syndrome and symptoms 22							
		3.6.1. Syndrome of symptoms							
		3.6.2. Hallucinations							
		3.6.3. Thought disorder and delusions							
		3.6.4. Other symptoms							
	3.7.	Main findings in correlations between STG and or subregional volumes and other variables							
	3.8.	Results from longitudinal studies							
4.	Discussions								
	4.1.	ROI volumes change in SCZ patients							
	4.2.	. Correlations between ROI volume changes and common symptoms							
	4.3.	. Confounding factors and methodological considerations							
	4.4. Limitations of the review								
5.	. Conclusions								
Ack	Acknowledgments.								
References									

1. Introduction

Structural brain differences in schizophrenia (SCZ) have been extensively investigated using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Many brain regions have been investigated including the temporal lobe structures (see reviews by Honea et al., 2005; Pearlson, 1997; Shenton et al., 2001; Wright et al., 2000). One of the most commonly implicated regions in these studies is the superior temporal gyrus (STG), usually in the left hemisphere (see reviews by Pearlson, 1997; Honea et al., 2005). The STG is a critically important brain region containing several important structures of the brain within an important network of connections to temporal limbic brain regions; which plays a major role in the production, interpretation and selfmonitoring of language. Dysfunction of either the STG or its network of connections is pertinent to SCZ and closely linked to two key positive symptoms of the disorder, auditory hallucinations (AH) and thought disorder (TD) (see reviews by Allen et al., 2008; Pearlson, 1997; Shenton et al., 2001).

The superior temporal gyrus is one of three (sometimes two) gyri in the temporal lobe of the human brain. It is a

long region located along the sylvian fissure dorsally and the superior temporal sulcus (STS) ventrally, and is subdivided into several regions both structurally and functionally. The most anterior portion of STG is temporal polar cortex (Brodmann area 38) (see a review by Pearlson, 1997). The dorsal surface of the STG is located within the sylvian fissure and is divided into Heschl's gyrus (HG), the planum temporale (PT), and the planum polare (PP) (Kim et al., 2003). STG contains several important structures of the brain, including primary auditory cortex (Brodman's areas [BA] 41/42) in HG and auditory association cortical areas (BA 22) in the anterior portion of PT that surrounds the HG (Kasai et al. 2003b; see a review by Pearlson, 1997; Shapleske et al., 1999). HG and PT have been thought of as candidates for the neural basis of language-related psychotic symptoms such as AH and TD in patients with SCZ (Yamasaki et al., 2007).

Structural imaging is widely used in the analysis of the volumes of the brains of people with medical and psychiatric conditions using MRI. Changes in brain volume or structure may be a direct marker of the involvement of a brain region in a pathological process. Barta et al. (1990) first reported a volume reduction of STG in patients with SCZ. Since then

there have been numerous studies on STG volumetry in subjects with SCZ which have reported volumetric deficits in the anterior, posterior, or total STG as well as subregions of the supratemporal plane such as HG or PT (Kim et al., 2003). When abnormalities have been found, they typically are reported on the left side. However, results are inconsistent and some studies have found no volumetric differences in the STG in SCZ when compared to healthy controls (e.g. Kulynych et al., 1996; Vita et al., 1995). The size of the STG has also been shown to relate to symptoms of SCZ, but with inconsistencies between reports. Barta et al. (1990) reported the volume of the left STG to be inversely correlated with AH and Shenton et al. (1992) reported the left posterior STG volume as negatively correlated with TD. Some studies reported reduced STG volume was correlated with delusions (e.g. Menon et al., 1995) and reduction in amplitude of the P300 Evoked Response Potentials (ERP) (McCarley et al., 1993). The later studies reported some positive results (see a review by Shenton et al., 2001). Still others have failed to find any relationship between the STG volumetric and clinical symptoms (e.g. Sanfilipo et al., 2000).

In the imaging literature as mentioned above, the most prominent method used to investigate STG structural differences is Region of Interest (ROI) analysis (see a review by Honea et al., 2005). ROI analyses, whereby the areas or volumes of a limited number of brain regions are estimated by manual delineation of their boundaries on a prioridefined ROI imaging data, have been the gold standard for structural MRI examinations although it is time-consuming. Their advantages include anatomical validity, definition of landmarks in native space and quantitative measures of the voxels in the regions under study (García-Martí et al., 2008). However, a limitation is that most ROI studies have included small numbers of patients because the method is labor-intensive and time-consuming, making it difficult to detect small effects and establish firm conclusions. It is therefore important that the results of all studies conducted be made available in a form that permits their combination and improves the estimation of the overall effect size.

Previous meta-analyses and reviews of brain structural differences in SCZ have been conducted (see reviews by McCarley et al., 1999; Wright et al., 2000) and also found regional deficits in the STG in SCZ patients compared with controls. Among them, Pearlson (1997) published a review on STG and PT in SCZ. The paper covered literature relating to STG structural and functional pathology and correlations with clinical symptoms derived from electrophysiology, structural and functional MRI studies. They found strong but not unanimous evidence of structural abnormalities of STG in SCZ, associated with AH and formal thought (language) disorder. However, more recent neuroimaging findings and the developments in brain imaging techniques and increasingly sophisticated analytical techniques, have led to clearer findings of STG structural abnormalities and correlations with some clinical variables in SCZ patients.

In this review we systematically reviewed the literature on the use of ROI analysis in SCZ structural MRI research focused on STG (including HG and PT) volume change and correlations between volume change and clinical symptoms including AH and TD in SCZ, compared with healthy subjects.

2. Methods

2.1. Search strategy and inclusion/exclusion criteria

A comprehensive search from a range of electronic databases, including EMBASE, PsycINFO, and PubMED was conducted up to July 2008. Key words used to identify the studies were: schizophrenia and magnetic resonance imaging and superior temporal gyrus, schizophrenia and MRI and superior temporal gyrus, schizophrenia and MRI and STG, schizophrenia and MRI and Heschl's gyrus, schizophrenia and MRI and planum temporale. The search was also complemented by manual and bibliographic cross-referencing.

Studies were considered for the review by using the following inclusion criteria: 1) they were published up until July 2008 as an article (rather than a letter or an abstract or a case report) in the journal in English; 2) they compared a group of subjects with SCZ (either first-episode patients or chronic patients) and a healthy comparison group; 3) all articles reporting data on the volume (either grey matter [GM] or white matter [WM] or both) of the STG as well as its subregions such as HG or PT using structural brain MRI techniques were included; 4) the studies used a ROI volumetric method for measuring brain regional volumes; 5) studies reporting results of SCZ but some patients had related diagnoses (e.g. schizoaffective disorder or schizophreniform disorder) were also included; 6) studies of early-onset SCZ such as child and adolescent patients were included; 7) studies of follow-up if a baseline information of STG or subregions volume was reported were included.

Studies were excluded if: 1) insufficient data were reported to extract the number of subjects in each group or the mean or the standard deviation of the volumes from MRI; 2) the structure measurement was an area (from a single slice rather than a volume; 3) the studies used the voxel-based morphometry (VBM), deformation-based morphometry (DBM) or tensor-based volumetric method for measuring brain regional volumes; 4) the study focused primarily upon relatives of patients with SCZ.

2.2. Review process and data analysis

Data extracted from the studies included the authors, year of publication, demographic variables (e.g. number, age, and gender), illness variables (e.g. diagnostic criteria and duration of illness), MRI variables (e.g. scanner, Tesla, and slice thickness), main volume change findings about STG or its subregions, and main findings about correlations between volume changes of STG or its subregions and clinical variables especially clinical symptoms. We calculated the rates of sex, handedness, and the total numbers of subjects according to the original studies. We also aimed to summarize similar results of different studies relating to volume changes in STG and their correlations with other clinical variables.

3. Results

Forty-six studies were identified as suitable for review and analysis, having published ROI volumetric studies of the STG as well as its subregions using structural MRI techniques that contained sufficient data including volume means of SCZ patients and controls (Table 1). A total of 2771 subjects in the 46 studies were included, which comprised 1444 patients and 1327 controls. Five of these studies are follow-up studies which provided baseline data. Amongst the patient group the smallest size sample is 8 SCZ patients (Holinger et al., 1999),

Table 1-Basic information and MRI methods employed in all reviewed ROI studies on STG or subregions volume measurement.

Study	No	Con	trols	Characteristics of SCZ patients			MRI variables				
		N ₁	N_{1}^{\prime}	N ₂	N_2^{\prime}	RM (%)	MA (Y)	ID (Y)	RRH (%)	Scanner	ST (mm)
Anderson et al. (2002)	31	15	15	16	16	100	42.5	19.69	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Barta et al. (1997a)	60	32	32	28	28	75	41.57	-	82	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Barta et al. (1997b)	29	18	18	11	11	-	72	-	-	GE 1.5 T	3
Barta et al. (1990)	30	15	15	15	15	100	30.6	-	87	GE 1.5 T	3
Bryant et al. (1999)	96	37	37	59	59	61	41	-	100	Sie. 2.0 T	3
Buchanan et al. (2004)	78	34	34	44	44	73	39	17.3	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Crespo-Facorro et al. (2004)	60	30	30	30	30	100	33.5	2.1	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
DeLisi et al. (1994)	125	40	40	85	85	59	26.94	-	86	GE 1.5 T	5
DeLisi and Hoff (2005)	37	10	10	27	27	67	-	-	-	GE 1.5 T	5
Flaum et al. (1995)	189	87	87	102	102	69	31.8	9.7	92	GE 1.5 T	3
Gur et al. (2000)	210	110	110	100	100	51	29.2	6.5	100	GE 1.5 T	1
Havermans et al. (1999)	47	17	17	30	30	50	36.3	-	100	Phi. 1.5 T	3
Hirayasu et al. (2000)	42	22	4	20	3	80	27.3	-	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Hirayasu et al. (1998)	35	18	18	17	17	82	26.7	_	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Holinger et al. (1999)	18	10	10	8	8	100	38	_	0	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Jacobsen et al. (1998)	27	17	0	10	0	70	15.2	_	80	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Jacobsen et al. (1996)	62	41	41	21	21	62	14.6	_	71	GE 1.5 T	2
Kasai et al. (2003a)	27	14	14	13	13	77	27.2	_	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Kasai et al. (2003b)	35	22	8	13	0	77	27.2	_	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Keshavan et al. (1998)	34	17	17	17	17	71	25.41	3.13	71	GE 1.5 T	2.6
Kim et al. (2003)	50	25	25	25	25	100	25.4	_	80	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Kulynych et al. (1996)	24	12	12	12	12	100	29.5	_	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Kwon et al. (1999)	32	16	16	16	16	100	45.1	23.3	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Marsh et al. (1997)	108	52	52	56	56	100	35.9	19.3	84	GE 1.5 T	3
Matsumoto et al. (2001)	80	40	40	40	40	50	15.5	_	80	GE 1.5 T	1
McCarley et al. (2002)	33	18	3	15	0	80	27.6	0.44	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
McCarley et al. (1993)	29	14	0	15	0	100	38	15.8	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Meisenzahl et al. (2004)	100	50	20	50	20	100	30	6.8	100	Sie. 1.5 T	1.5
Meisenzahl et al. (2002)	60	30	30	30	30	100	29.37	_	100	Sie. 1.5 T	1.5
Menon et al. (1995)	40	20	5	20	5	100	29.7	8	-	GE 1.5 T	3
Onitsuka et al. (2004)	51	28	28	23	23	100	42	19.1	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Pearlson et al. (1997)	106	60	60	46	46	70	31.8	_	83	GE 1.5 T	3
Rajarethinam et al. (2000)	40	20	20	20	20	100	22.9	10.35	85	GE 1.5 T	3
Sallet et al. (2003)	60	20	40	40	40	60	34	15.8	85	Phi. 1.5 T	1.2
Sanfilipo et al. (2000)	82	29	29	53	53	100	38.7	14.4	87	Vis. 1.5 T	2.8
Sanfilipo et al. (2002)	89	27	0	62	9	100	38.8	15.2	87	Vis. 1.5 T	2.8
Shenton et al. (1992)	30	15	15	15	15	100	37	15.8	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Sumich et al. (2002)	41	16	16	25	25	100	24	0.67	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Takahashi et al. (2006)	137	72	72	65	65	54	25.8	4	100	Sie. 1.5 T	1
Taylor et al. (2005)	34	16	16	18	18	-	11.8	_	-	GE 1.5 T	1.2
Tune et al. (1996)	29	15	15	14	14	50	39.22	-	-	GE 1.5 T	3
Vita et al. (1995)	34	15	15	19	19	63	25.6	1.6	100	GE 0.5 T	5
Woodruff et al. (1997)	85	43	43	42	42	100	32.4	11.1	100	Phi. 1.5 T	3
Yamasaki et al. (2007)	39	22	22	17	17	100	29.5	8.8	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5
Yamasue et al. (2004a)	54	27	25	27	25	74	30.4	9.81	100	GE 1.5 T	3
Yamasue et al. (2004b)	32	19	17	13	11	54	29.8	8.4	100	GE 1.5 T	1.5

GE = General Electric scanner; ID = means of illness duration (year, Y); MA = means of year at scan (year, Y); N_1 = numbers of controls; N_2 = numbers of patients; N_0 = numbers of total subjects in every study (= N_1+N_2); N_1' = numbers of new controls in study that were not included in previous studies we reviewed; N_2' = numbers of new patients in study that were not included in previous studies we reviewed; N_2' = numbers of new patients in study that were not included in previous studies we reviewed; N_2' = numbers of new patients in study that were not included in previous studies we reviewed; N_2' = numbers of new patients in study that were not included in previous studies we reviewed; N_1 = Phillips scanner, R = right; RM = the rate of male patients (%); RRH = the rate of right-handed patients (%); SCZ = Schizophrenia; Sie. = Siemens scanner, ST = slice thickness (mm); Vis. = Vista HPQ Pickar; – = not available.

and the biggest size sample is 102 SCZ patients (Flaum et al., 1995). These studies were published from 1990 to 2007. From 46 studies identified we found some studies may have shared some common subjects such as some authors came from the same project group and the measurements may have contributed to another publication after the addition of new subjects. We tried to identify the information about the number of new subjects from the original studies. Where possible, we contacted the corresponding authors of some articles for complementary information. Finally we identified a total of 1193 unique patients and 1272 controls in the 46 studies. Table 1 summarized the information about demographic and general clinical variables and MRI method of the subjects in the 46 studies we reviewed.

3.1. Demographic characteristics

The age range of the SCZ group in the studies reviewed was 11.8 years to 72 years. Altogether four studies (Jacobsen et al., 1998; Jacobsen et al., 1996; Matsumoto et al., 2001; Taylor et al., 2005) comprised SCZ samples of a childhood-onset or early-onset form. The youngest patient sample was from childhood-onset SCZ patients (mean age=11.8, S.D.=3.2) (Taylor et al., 2005). The rest of the 42 studies were adult patient samples. The mean age in the youngest patient samples among adult studies was 22.9 years (S.D.=8.09) (Rajarethinam et al., 2000). The mean age of the oldest patient samples was 72 years (S.D.=10) (Barta et al., 1997b).

45.5% of studies (20 of 44 studies, 2 studies have no sex information) selected only male patients. In another 24 studies the rate of male patients was higher (50% to 87.5%). The number of male patients (n=1094) in the 44 studies was more three times that of female patients (n=321).

61% of studies (25 of 41 studies, 5 studies have no handedness information) selected full (100%) right-handed patients and only one article studied the full left-handed patients (Holinger et al., 1999). Rate of right-handed patients in another 16 studies occupied 71%–87%.

3.2. General clinical information

A number of inclusion criteria were used: 67.4% of studies (31 of the 46 studies) used the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), Third Edition, Revised (DSM-III-R), 26.1% of studies (12 of 44 studies) used DSM, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV), one study used the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, Tenth Edition (ICD-10) Diagnostic Criteria for Research (Takahashi et al., 2006), one study used both DSM-III-R and DSM-IV (Buchanan et al., 2004), and one study used both ICD-10 and DSM-IV diagnostic criteria (Meisenzahl et al., 2004).

Ten studies recruited the samples of first-episode SCZ or related diagnosis (DeLisi and Hoff, 2005; DeLisi et al., 1994; Hirayasu et al., 2000; Hirayasu et al., 1998; Kasai et al., 2003a; Kasai et al., 2003b; Keshavan et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2003; McCarley et al., 2002; Sumich et al., 2002). One study collected data on patients with recent-onset SCZ (Matsumoto et al., 2001). One study used a later-life onset SCZ sample (Barta et al., 1997b). The other 34 studies used chronic SCZ samples and a few of studies included first-episode patients. The mean illness duration for the SCZ patients group of these studies ranged from 0.44 years to 23.3 years, although we could not find this information in 45.5% of studies (20 studies).

Only two of 46 studies employed purely neuroleptic-naïve patients (Keshavan et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2003). One study employed 14 chronic patients including 9 neuroleptic-naïve and 5 neuroleptic-free patients (Tune et al., 1996). Eight studies have no detailed information about medication. Patients in the remaining 36 studies were receiving a form of neuroleptic treatment when MRI scanned. Among them, most patients received typical neuroleptic treatments. There are six studies which included a few neuroleptic-naïve or neuroleptic-free patients (Barta et al., 1997a; Hirayasu et al., 2000; McCarley et al., 2002; Sanfilipo et al., 2000; Taylor et al., 2005; Vita et al., 1995).

3.3. MRI methods

Acquired slice thickness for STG or subregions measurements in these studies ranged from 1 mm to 5 mm. Three studies acquired 1 mm slices (Gur et al., 2000; Matsumoto et al., 2001; Takahashi et al., 2006). Three studies acquired 5 mm slices (DeLisi and Hoff, 2005; DeLisi et al., 1994; Vita et al., 1995). Amongst 46 studies, 21 studies acquired 1.5 mm slices and 12 studies acquired 3 mm slices.

The vast majority (95.7%; 44 of 46 studies) used a GE 1.5 T scanner. One study used 0.5 T (Vita et al., 1995) and one study used 2 T (Bryant et al., 1999).

3.4. Information about ROIs

3.4.1. Categories of ROIs or subregions of STG

There are different ROIs according to the different partition methods the studies employed (see Table 2). Sixteen studies used the common partition method to trace left and right STG subregions to calculate the volumes. Thirteen studies further traced the anterior and posterior STG region besides measuring left and right STG volumes. Seven studies measured HG and PT volumes and further divided into left and right sides. The remaining eight studies divided the STG into the three subregions as anterior third, mid third and posterior third STG (Rajarethinam et al., 2000), or five subregions including HG, PT, PP, rostral and caudal STG (Takahashi et al., 2006). Several studies measured only anterior STG (Barta et al., 1997b) or middle and posterior STG (Menon et al., 1995), or PT (Meisenzahl et al., 2002; Sallet et al., 2003).

3.4.2. Anatomical landmarks for ROI tracing

According to the particular method employed, some studies selected the specific anatomic landmarks to define STG or subregions for tracing. These kinds of landmarks served as general guidelines to supplement the information derived from visual inspection of the MRI images and measurement rules. There were some studies that shared the same or almost the same method of anatomic landmarks of STG as well as subregions listed as below.

For example, there were 13 studies that completely employed or mainly employed the method of STG or subregional anatomic landmarks based upon Shenton et al. (1992) (Anderson et al., 2002; Havermans et al., 1999; Hirayasu et al., 1998; Holinger et al., 1999; Jacobsen et al., 1998; Jacobsen et al., 1996; Kulynych et al., 1996, McCarley et al., 2002; McCarley et al., 1993; Meisenzahl et al., 2004; Sanfilipo et al., 2002; Sanfilipo et al., 2000; Yamasue et al., 2004a). The basic criteria of the anatomic landmark is: 1) for the anterior STG: from the first slice containing the white matter tract of the temporal stem to the last slice prior to the mamillary bodies; 2) for the posterior STG: from the first slice containing the mamillary bodies to the last appearance of the fibers of the crux of the fornix.

There were 4 studies that completely employed or mainly employed the method described by Barta et al. (1990) (Barta et al., 1997b; Barta et al., 1990; Flaum et al., 1995; Tune et al., 1996). The basic anatomic landmark for tracing is: cortex and white matter were assessed in three consecutive coronal levels. The STG was defined as bounded laterally by the superior temporal sulcus, medially by the lateral sulcus, and inferiorly by a line connecting the depth of the superior temporal sulcus and the circular sulcus of the insula.

Five studies completely employed or mainly employed the method described by Kim et al. (2000) (Crespo-Facorro et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2003; Onitsuka et al., 2004; Takahashi et al., 2006; Taylor et al., 2005). The general anatomic landmarks are defined as below: the superior border of STG was designated as the point of the lateral brain cortex on the same level with the most lateral point of the sylvian fossa. The border between the posterior and anterior STG was in the coronal plane, including the most anterior point of Heschl's sulcus or the sulcus intermedius if it existed. Tracing began on the coronal plane containing the posterior end of the posterior horizontal limb of the sylvian fissure. Tracing for the anterior STG ended on the plane including the anterior end of the sylvian fissure or temporofrontal junction. In almost all slices, tracing was performed along the lateral rim of the supratemporal plane dorsally and the deepest point of the superior temporal sulcus ventrally. Exceptionally, when the lateral rim of the PT did not reach the lateral surface, the superior border was the point of the lateral brain cortex of the same level with the most lateral point of the sylvian fossa. Corresponding portions in the slices containing Heschl's sulcus were included in the posterior STG, whereas portions adjacent to the planum polare in front of the anterior tip of HS were included in the anterior STG (Kim et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2000).

There were five studies (Hirayasu et al., 2000; Kasai et al., 2003b; Kwon et al., 1999; Yamasaki et al., 2007;Yamasue et al., 2004b) that completely employed or mainly employed the same method to define the anatomic landmarks for HG and PT for tracing, which is described in detail by Kasai et al. (2003b) and Hirayasu et al. (2000).

3.4.3. Image planes tracing

STG or subregions in most studies were traced on coronal planes and were checked on other image planes to confirm the accuracy of the ROI boundaries. However, HG in some studies (Barta et al., 1997a; Hirayasu et al., 2000; Kasai et al., 2003b; Kwon et al., 1999; Yamasue et al., 2004ab; Yamasaki et al. 2007) was identified firstly from the axial plane or manually outlined, and/or then traced proceeding from the most posterior coronal image with a mark to the most anterior. HG was then best visualized in reconstructed axial slices especially in cases where secondary transverse sulci could be seen. In addition, one study traced STG regions on the realigned sagittal series with the exception of the medial aspect of STG using the realigned coronal series (Gur et al., 2000).

3.4.4. Volumetric correction

STG or subregions volumetric analyses were corrected for variations in head size such as total brain volume (TBV) or total cerebral volume (TCV) or intracranial volume (contents) (ICV) (See Table 2). Some studies employed the relative volume (rate) method such as dividing by TBV or TCV or ICV (17 of 46 studies). There were 16 studies employing the method of relative volume dividing by ICV (100×absolute ROI volumes/ ICV). There were 2 studies employing the method of relative volume dividing by TBV (Barta et al., 1997b; Sallet et al., 2003).

Most studies employed the method to correct the head size by a covariate method. Amongst them, 9 studies analyzed the regional volume difference between groups by ICV as a covariate and one study employed ICV corrected z scores for the analyses (Marsh et al., 1997). 12 studies analyzed the regions volume by TBV or TCV as a covariate. There were 4 studies having the TBV and temporal lobe volume as the covariates (Barta et al., 1997a; Barta et al., 1990; Bryant et al., 1999; Pearlson et al., 1997).

Two studies used height as a covariate to control for differences in brain size (Havermans et al., 1999; Sumich et al., 2002) because one viewpoint thought that height could be used as a reasonable measure for premorbid brain volume (Arndt et al., 1991), as it is closely correlated to brain size in normal subjects and is unlikely to be influenced by pathological processes affecting the brain.

3.4.5. Reliability of tracing ROI

Imperfect inter-rater and intra-rater reliability (test-retest reliability) in MRI volumetrics is an important source of error and attention to this issue in itself is a reasonable index of study quality (see a review by Brierley et al., 2002). In the 46 studies reviewed the inter-rater intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) values were from 0.70 to 0.99 according to the different studies and different subregions in these studies. The intra-rater ICC values of these studies were from 0.69 to 0.99. The ICC values in almost all studies were higher than 0.85 except that one study had a lower ICC value (Flaum et al., 1995). Table 2 lists the ICC values of these studies.

3.5. Main findings in STG or its subregional volume changes when compared with controls

Table 3 summarizes the main findings in STG volume change based on all of the 46 studies in this review when compared with controls.

About 24% of studies (eleven of the 46 studies) reported no significant difference in the volume of STG and/or its subregions between SCZ patients and controls (Barta et al., 1997a; Buchanan et al., 2004; DeLisi and Hoff, 2005; DeLisi et al., 1994; Havermans et al., 1999; Kulynych et al., 1996;

Table 2 – Information of ROI division, reliability of tracing ROI and volumetric correction for head size in reviewed studies reviewed on STG or subregions volume measurement.

Study	Subregion	GM-WM	Intra-class correlation coeff	Volumetric correction		
		segmentation	Inter-rater Reliability (r)	Intra-rater Reliability (r)	method to control for variations in head size	
Anderson et al. (2002)	A/P, L/R	GM	-	0.82	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Barta et al. (1997a)	HG and PT, L/R	GM	-	0.92–0.99	TBV/temporal lobe as a covariate	
Barta et al. (1997b)	A, L/R	Combined	r>0.90	r>0.90	Relative volume (/TBV)	
Barta et al. (1990)	L/R	GM, WM	r>0.86	r>0.86	TBV or TLV as a covariate	
Bryant et al. (1999)	L/R	GM, WM	r>0.95	-	TBV or TLV as a covariate	
Buchanan et al. (2004)	L/R	GM, WM	0.89	-	No (no significant effect from TBV or ICV)	
Crespo-Facorro et al. (2004)	HG, PT, PP	GM	0.93~0.98	-	ICV as a covariate	
DeLisi et al. (1994)	STG and PT, L/R	-	-	r>0.90	TBV as a covariate	
DeLisi and Hoff (2005)	L/R	Combined	-	0.95–0.99	TBV as a covariate	
Flaum et al. (1995)	L/R	Combined	r>0.70	0.69–0.70	ICV as a covariate	
Gur et al. (2000)	L/R	GM, WM	0.90-0.96	_	ICV as a covariate	
Havermans et al. (1999)	L/R	Combined	-	0.85~0.98	height was used as a covariate	
Hirayasu et al. (2000)	HG and PT, L/R	GM	0.882/0.881 (HG, L/R); 0.985/0.95 (PT, L/R)	-	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Hirayasu et al. (1998)	A/P, L/R	GM	0.99	-	Relative volume (/ICV) and ICV also as a covariate	
Holinger et al. (1999)	A/P, L/R	GM	The average ICC value is 0.85	-	dividing by ICV	
Jacobsen et al. (1998)	A/P, L/R	Combined	0.92	0.97	TCV as a covariate	
Jacobsen et al. (1996)	A/P, L/R	Combined	0.92	_	TCV as a covariate	
Kasai et al. (2003a)	A/P, L/R	GM	0.99	-	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Kasai et al. (2003b)	HG and PT, L/R	GM	0.95/0.96 (HG, L/R), 0.99 (PT)	0.95–0.99	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Keshavan et al. (1998)	L/R	GM	0.97–0.99	0.94–0.97	ICV as a covariate	
Kim et al. (2003)	A/P, L/R	GM	0.83–0.97	_	ICV as a covariate	
Kulynych et al. (1996)	L/R	Combined	0.95	_	TBV/temporal lobe as a covariate	
Kwon et al. (1999)	HG and PT, L/R	Combined	0.92/0.9 (HG, L/R); 0.93/0/91 (PT, L/R)	-	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Marsh et al. (1997)	L/R	GM, WM	r>0.85 (even higher than 0.92) in most subregions while it is 0.83/0.81 in pSTG (L/R)	r>0.92 in most subregions while it is 0.88/0.85 in right aSTG (WM)/left total STG region	ICV as a covariate	
Matsumoto et al. (2001)	L/R	GM, WM	r>0.92	r>0.92	TBV as a covariate	

McCarley et al. (2002)	A/P, L/R	GM	0.99 (STG); 0.88 (HG); 0.95/0.98 (PT, L/R)	-	Relative volume (/ICV)	
McCarley et al. (1993)	STG (A/P) HG and PT, L/R	GM	The average ICC value is 0.86	-	dividing by ICV	
Meisenzahl et al. (2004)	A/P, L/R	GM	0.89–0.93	0.89–0.93	ICV as a covariate	
Meisenzahl et al. (2002)	PT (A/P)	GM	0.88–0.93	0.92–0.96	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Menon et al. (1995)	Middle and posterior	GM, WM	r>0.98 (L), r>0.97 (R)	0.92–0.96	ICV as a covariate	
Onitsuka et al. (2004)	L/R	GM	0.99	-	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Pearlson et al. (1997)	A/P, L/R	GM, WM	r>0.98 (L), r>0.97 (R)	0.92–0.96 TBV or TLV as a covariate		
Rajarethinam et al. (2000)	A/P; anterior 1/3, mid 1/3, posterior 1/3	Combined	0.91	-	TBV and TCV as covariates	
Sallet et al. (2003)	PT (A/P)	GM	0.91/0.84 (PT, L/R)	-	Relative volume (/TBV)	
Sanfilipo et al. (2000)	L/R	GM, WM	-	0.92	ICV as a covariate	
Sanfilipo et al. (2002)	L/R	GM, WM	-	0.92	ICV as a covariate	
Shenton et al. (1992)	A/P, L/R	GM	The average ICC value is 0.86	-	dividing by ICV	
Sumich et al. (2002)	HG and PT, L/R	-	0.90–0.95	-	height as a covariate	
Takahashi et al. (2006)	HG, PT, PP, rostral, caudal STG	Combined	r>0.88	r>0.88	Relative volume (/ICV) and ICV also as a covariate	
Taylor et al. (2005)	STG (A/P), HG, L/R	GM, WM	0.83 (aSTG); 0.88 (pSTG); 0.96 (HG)	COV in aSTG/pSTG/HG is 2.5%/3.2%/9.02%	TBV as a covariate	
Tune et al. (1996)	L/R	Combined	r>0.86	r>0.86	No (no significant effect from TBV or ICV)	
Vita et al. (1995)	L/R	Combined	-	0.88–0.96	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Woodruff et al. (1997)	STG	Combined	0.89	r>0.9	Standardized effect sizes (adjusted for TBV)	
Yamasaki et al. (2007)	HG and PT, L/R	GM	0.97/0.91 (HG, L/R); 0.91/0.92 (PT, L/R)	r>0.97	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Yamasue et al. (2004a)	A/P, L/R	GM	0.87–0.99	0.92–0.99	Relative volume (/ICV)	
Yamasue et al. (2004b)	HG and PT, L/R	GM	0.99/0.98 (HG, L/R); 0.99/0.99 (PT, L/R)	r>0.99	Relative volume (/ICV)	

A = anterior; A/P = anterior/posterior; aSTG = anterior STG; COV = coefficient of variances; Combined = a volume combined GM and WM; GM = grey matter; ICC = intraclass correlation coefficients; ICV = intracranial (content) volume; L = left; L/R = left/right; P = posterior; pSTG = posterior STG; TLV = temporal lobe volume; TBV = total brain volume; TCV = total cerebral volume; R = right; rSTG = right STG; WM = white matter; - = not available.

Meisenzahl et al., 2004; Meisenzahl et al., 2002; Sallet et al., 2003; Vita et al., 1995; Woodruff et al., 1997; Table 3).

The remaining 76% of studies (thirty-five of the 46 studies) reported positive results. Among the positive results, about 43% of studies (fifteen of 35 studies) reported only unilateral effects in the STG or subregional volume change. The reduced volumes on the left side of STG and/or its subregions were more reported than on the right side. There were twelve of the 15 studies which reported reduced STG or subregions volume in the left side such as reduced in the left STG (Keshavan et al. 1998; Onitsuka et al., 2004; Shenton et al., 1992; Tune et al., 1996), left anterior STG (Pearlson et al., 1997), left anterior third and one half STG (Rajarethinam et al., 2000), left posterior STG (Hirayasu et al., 1998; Kasai et al., 2003a; McCarley et al., 1993), left PT (Kasai et al., 2003b; Kwon et al., 1999; McCarley et al., 1993; Sumich et al., 2002; Yamasue et al., 2004b) and left HG (Kasai et al., 2003b) according to the different partition methods used in different studies. However, only two studies reported unilateral volume reduction in the right side such as in the right posterior STG (Jacobsen et al., 1998), or right HG (Crespo-Facorro et al., 2004). The two studies had particular SCZ subjects such as childhood-onset SCZ patients (Jacobsen et al., 1998) or a mixed sample including six patients with first-episode, 11 patients with recent-onset (within five years) and 13 chronic inpatients (Crespo-Facorro et al., 2004).

About 37% of studies (thirteen of 35 studies) reported only bilateral reduction effect in STG or subregional volumes such as in the bilaterally anterior STG (Barta et al., 1997b), posterior STG (Menon et al., 1995; Yamasue et al., 2004a) or middle STG (Menon et al., 1995), PT (Yamasaki et al., 2007), HG (Takahashi et al., 2006) or bilaterally total STG (Anderson et al., 2002; Barta et al., 1990; Bryant et al., 1999; Flaum et al., 1995; Gur et al., 2000; Marsh et al., 1997; Sanfilipo et al., 2000; Sanfilipo et al., 2002). One study reported the increased effect in the bilateral STG and posterior segment volumes in adolescent inpatients (Jacobsen et al., 1996).

Six studies reported mixed effects of volume changes including both bilateral and unilateral effects in the subregional volumes changes of some studies due to every change in different subregions according to the partition methods employed by different studies. These studies showed volume reduction in the total STG (Matsumoto et al., 2001; Takahashi et al., 2006), total posterior STG (Kim et al., 2003), bilateral posterior STG (Holinger et al., 1999), and total HG (Hirayasu et al., 2000; McCarley et al., 2002; Takahashi et al., 2006) and bilateral Caudal STG (Takahashi et al., 2006); and also showed volume reduction of unilateral effect such as in the left PT (Hirayasu et al., 2000; McCarley et al., 2002; Takahashi et al., 2006), left posterior STG (McCarley et al., 2002), right STG (Holinger et al., 1999; Matsumoto et al., 2001), and right posterior STG (Kim et al., 2003). One study reported the increased white matter volume (WMV) abnormalities in the right posterior STG (total and WMV enlargement), bilaterally posterior STG and right HG (Taylor et al., 2005).

From Table 3, we can find almost all studies reported the volume reduction whether in the bilateral or unilateral STG or its subregions. However, two studies reported increased effect regarding volume (Jacobsen et al., 1996; Taylor et al., 2005). Among them, one study reported bilateral STG and posterior segment volume enlargement in adolescent inpatients (Jacobsen et al., 1996). Another study reported increased effects in the WMV of STG (or subregion) (Taylor et al., 2005). The increased tendency in WMV of STG is not consistent with other of the 46 studies which reported the negative results (Marsh et al., 1997; Sanfilipo et al., 2002; Sanfilipo et al., 2000) or reduced effect (Matsumoto et al., 2001; Pearlson et al., 1997).

In 46 studies, there were 16 studies comparing only grey matter volume (GMV) of STG or subregions in patients with SCZ and controls. Twenty-five studies reported the change of the whole volume lumping GM and WM into their measurements or a few of them reported change of both GMV and WMV by itself of STG or subregions. However, in two studies we were unable to determine which kind of matter volume was measured (DeLisi et al., 1994; Sumich et al., 2002) (Table 3).

Some studies reported asymmetry of the STG or subregion volumes. 10 of 46 studies reported a significant difference in the laterality effect of volume in SCZ patients when compared with controls. However, 19 of 46 studies did not provide information about asymmetry of STG or subregions except that 17 of 46 studies reported negative results. Among 10 studies that reported positive results, 6 studies reported left-lateralized volume reduction in the total STG (Onitsuka et al., 2004), posterior STG (Hirayasu et al., 2000; Hirayasu et al., 1998), PT (Kwon et al., 1999), posterior STG and PT (McCarley et al., 2002) or anterior one-third STG (Rajarethinam et al., 2000). In the other 4 studies, Takahashi et al. (2006) reported SCZ patients were significantly less lateralized for the caudal STG volume than the control subjects. One study reported no left or right lateralization in PT in male patients although HG volume was preserved (Yamasaki et al., 2007). Two studies reported a different asymmetry pattern: reversed asymmetry (right-lateralized low volume) in the total STG in the lefthanded patients (Holinger et al., 1999) or greater leftward laterality (right-lateralized low volume) in adolescent patients with recent-onset SCZ than in healthy volunteers (Matsumoto et al., 2001). Though no firm conclusion can be drawn from 10 studies, alterations in normal asymmetries, and a left-sided 'preference' of the pathology mainly in righthanded subjects, are findings that seem to be more common, except some studies coming from the left-handed subjects or adolescent patients with recent-onset. However, 17 of 46 studies reported no differences in volume asymmetry of STG or subregions including PT when compared with controls. Among them, one study reported there was no significant difference in the STG asymmetry between SCZ patients and controls (Meisenzahl et al., 2004). In addition, one study reported the reversal of the normal asymmetry for PT surface area in SCZ subjects although there was no significant difference in the GMV asymmetry of PT and HG in SCZ (Barta et al., 1997a).

3.6. Main finding in correlation between STG and or its subregional volumes and syndrome and symptoms

Sixteen of the 46 studies had no information, or did not investigate the correlation between STG or its subregional volumes and clinical symptoms. Eighteen of the other 30 studies reported positive findings while 12 of them had negative findings. Some studies, which had no healthy controls but reported the correlation between symptoms in SCZ patients and STG or subregional volume, were not included in this review as per the inclusion criterion.

3.6.1. Syndrome of symptoms

Several studies reported correlations between STG or subregional volume changes and the clinical syndrome such as the syndrome of psychotic symptoms or positive symptoms. These studies found the syndrome of psychotic symptoms was negatively correlated with the left anterior STG volume (Kim et al., 2003), and the syndrome of positive symptoms was negatively correlated with PT GMV (Crespo-Facorro et al., 2004) or right PT volume (Yamasaki et al., 2007) or right posterior STG volume (Jacobsen et al., 1998) in the patients with SCZ.

3.6.2. Hallucinations

There were several studies reporting STG or its subregional volumes to be negatively correlated with hallucinations (especially AH) with the left STG (Barta et al., 1990; Onitsuka et al., 2004), left anterior third and one half STG (Rajarethinam et al., 2000), left PP (Takahashi et al., 2006), left PT (Sallet et al., 2003), and right STG (Matsumoto et al., 2001) volume.

3.6.3. Thought disorder and delusions

Some studies reported correlations between TD and STG or its subregional volumes such as in the left STG (Anderson et al., 2002; Barta et al., 1997a; Vita et al., 1995), left PT (Barta et al., 1997a), right STG (Matsumoto et al., 2001), or right anterior STG (Holinger et al., 1999).

There were several studies that particularly reported correlations between delusions and STG or its subregional volumes, such as left posterior STG total volume or GMV (Menon et al., 1995), left rostral STG volume (especially in the early-onset SCZ) and left PP volume (Takahashi et al., 2006).

Four studies reported that STG volume significantly correlated with subscale scores which might be linked with TD, such as correlations between left STG (and its posterior segment) and unusual thought content (Jacobsen et al., 1996); between left PT volume and stereotyped thinking (Sallet et al., 2003); between left PT volume and suspiciousness/Persecution subscale score of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (Kwon et al., 1999); and between right PT volume and delusional behavior (Yamasaki et al., 2007).

3.6.4. Other symptoms

Right posterior STG GMV negatively correlated with the poor attention subscale of the PANSS (Anderson et al., 2002) while positively correlating with negative symptoms. There was no significant correlation between STG volume and disorganized symptoms (Kim et al., 2003).

3.7. Main findings in correlations between STG and or subregional volumes and other variables

Studies have reported conflicting findings in respect to the relationship between illness duration and STG volume. For example, studies have reported left STG volume to be negatively correlated with pre-treatment illness duration among male patients (Keshavan et al. 1998) and time in hospital (DeLisi and Hoff, 2005) and reduced HG volume to be correlated with greater illness duration (Crespo-Facorro et al., 2004). However, negative findings have also been reported (Gur et al., 2000). Similarly, bilateral STG volumes were positively correlated with the age at onset of psychosis in one study (Matsumoto et al., 2001) but not another (Marsh et al., 1997). In regards to medication, a study reported that elevated PP volume positively correlated with cumulative neuroleptic exposure (Crespo-Facorro et al., 2004).

However, several studies reported no significant correlation between STG volume and medication effects (Matsumoto et al., 2001), or between STG volume and age first medicated, duration of medication treatment, or medication dose (Kasai et al., 2003a).

One study reported left STG volume positively correlated with verbal fluency test performance (Vita et al., 1995) while another study reported no correlation between cognitive performance and HG or PT volume (Hirayasu et al., 2000).

There were several studies that reported positive results between P300 amplitude and STG or subregional volume. One study reported left hemisphere magnetic mismatch field which is a magnetic counterpart of mismatch negativity in response to change in speech sounds and showed a significant positive correlation with PT GMV (Yamasue et al., 2004b). Another study reported left posterior STG GMV reductions correlated with both P300 amplitude reduction and left<right topographic asymmetry (McCarley et al., 1993). One study reported left posterior STG and the left PT, but not other ROI, were positively correlated with left temporal P300 voltage (McCarley et al., 2002), while another study reported lower or no correlation (Havermans et al., 1999). One of the studies reviewed concluded that there is no association between the electrophysiological and structural measurements detected (Meisenzahl et al., 2004).

3.8. Results from longitudinal studies

Five follow-up studies were included in this review. One study was excluded as it had no baseline information about volume change although it reported bilateral posterior superior temporal GM to decline over time, and a relationship to greater Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS) total and negative symptom scores in their group of chronic SCZ patients after a mean interscan interval of 3.6 years (Mathalon et al., 2001).

Among the five studies reviewed, the follow-up time interval was 1 year (Keshavan et al., 1998), 1.5 years (Kasai et al., 2003a; Kasai et al., 2003b), 2 years (Jacobsen et al., 1998), 5 years and 10 years (DeLisi and Hoff, 2005). One study which is the longest time follow-up study, examined the volume changes of the temporal lobe and the STG of 27 patients with SCZ and 10 controls (DeLisi and Hoff, 2005). The result showed no significant volume change over time in those structures. The other four studies found positive results. Keshavan et al. (1998) only followed-up a smaller subset of patients and reported STG volume reduction may

Table 3 – Main findings in STG or subregion volume in patients with SCZ and correlations with some clinical variables when compared with controls.							
Study	Significant differences in STG or subregion volume in patients with SCZ when compared with controls	Significant correlations between STG or subregion volume and clinical variables including H and TD in patients with SCZ					
Anderson et al. (2002)	Bilateral STG GMV reduced	Negative correlation between left STG and right pSTG absolute GMV and TD, Negative correlation between poor attention subscale of the PANSS and right pSTG absolute or relative GMV					
Barta et al. (1997a)	No	Negative correlation between Left PT GMV and TD					
Barta et al. (1997b)	Bilaterally anterior STG volume reduced	No correlation					
Barta et al. (1990)	Left STG reduced (P<0.01), right STG reduced (P<0.05)	PC between reduced left STG volume and H especially AH					
Bryant et al. (1999)	Bilateral STG volume reduced	-					
Buchanan et al. (2004)	No	-					
Crespo-Facorro et al. (2004)	Right HG GMV reduced	Negative correlation between PT GMV and positive symptoms, PC between elevated PP volume and cumulative neuroleptic exposure; negative correlation between HG volume and duration of illness					
DeLisi et al. (1994)	No (only STG volume, no data of PT volume only PT area)	No correlation between STG volume and AH or TD					
DeLisi and Hoff (2005)	No	Correlation between rSTG volume reduction; the number of total hospitalized, the greater the total time spent in hospital					
Flaum et al. (1995)	Bilateral STG volume reduced	-					
Gur et al. (2000)	Bilateral STG volume (specific to GM not WM) decrease which exceeded that of whole-brain (11.5%) only in men	STG GMV is not correlated with H, TD, neurocognitive parameters or illness duration					
Havermans et al. (1999)	No	STG (including left aSTG) volume is not correlated with H. TD although left P300 amplitude reduced					
Hirayasu et al. (2000)	Left PT and total HG GMV reduced	HG and PT volume is not correlated with H, TD or cognitive performances					
Hirayasu et al. (1998)	Left pSTG volume reduced	-					
Holinger et al. (1999)	The pSTG GMV bilaterally reduced; right side	PC between right aSTG and TD, no correlation					
	of the total STG GMV reduced	between H and STG volume					
Jacobsen et al. (1998)	Right pSTG volume decreased	Correlation between decreases right pSTG volume and higher SAPS scores					
Jacobsen et al. (1996)	Bilaterally larger STG and posterior segment	PC between left STG and pSTG volume and scores of BPRS subscales: conceptual disorganization and unusual thought content, no correlation between STG volume and antipsychotic exposure					
Kasai et al. (2003a)	Left pSTG volume reduced	STG volume is not correlated with H, TD, age, age first medicated, duration of medication treatment, medication dose, or intracranial contents volume					
Kasai et al. (2003b)	Left PT and left HG GMV reduced.	-					
Keshavan et al. (1998)	Left STG volume decreased	Negative correlation between pre-treatment illness duration and left STG GMV in male patients					
Kim et al. (2003)	Total pSTG and right pSTG GMV reduced	Negative correlation between left aSTG GMV and psychotic symptoms, right pSTG PC with negative symptoms but no correlation with disorganized symptoms.					
Kulynych et al. (1996)	No						
Kwon et al. (1999)	Left PT GMV reduced	Correlation between reduced left PT volume and the subscales scores of the PANSS: the suspiciousness or persecution subscale score					
Marsh et al. (1997)	Bilaterally smaller STG GMV while WMV not	Smaller left pSTG GMV correlated with psychotic symptom sub-scores of the BPRS, which is not correlated with age at illness onset or the brain measurements					
Matsumoto et al. (2001)	Total STG (GM+WM) and the right STG (GM) volume reduced	Negative correlation between right STG volume and TD or H; Bilateral STG volumes were PC with the age at onset of psychosis while no correlation with result from medication effects					
McCarley et al. (2002)	Left posterior STG, left PT and total HG GMV reduced	Left pSTG and the left PT but not other regions of interest, were specifically PC with left temporal P300 voltage (abnormality)					

Table 3 (continued)		
Study	Significant differences in STG or subregion volume in patients with SCZ when compared with controls	Significant correlations between STG or subregion volume and clinical variables including H and TD in patients with SCZ
McCarley et al. (1993)	Left pSTG including HG and PT GMV reduced	Left pSTG GMV reductions correlated with both P300 amplitude reduction and left <right topographic<br="">asymmetry</right>
Meisenzahl et al. (2004)	No	STG volume is not correlated with H, TD or electrophysiological measurements
Meisenzahl et al. (2002)	No	STG volume is not correlated with H, TD or P300 measurements
Menon et al. (1995)	Middle and pSTG GMV bilaterally reduced no difference in WMV	Negative correlation between left pSTG total volume or GMV and TD but no correlation between STG volume and H
Onitsuka et al. (2004)	Left STG GMV reduced	Negative correlation between left STG GMV and H but no correlation between STG GMV and TD
Pearlson et al. (1997)	Left aSTG GMV and WMV reduced	-
Rajarethinam et al. (2000)	Smaller left anterior 1/3 and one half STG	Negative correlation between left anterior third and one half STG volume and severity of H while not TD; left posterior STG volume negatively correlated with the severity of thought disorder.
Sallet et al. (2003)	No	PC between volume of left PT and the sub-items hallucinatory behavior, social withdrawal and stereotyped thinking (PANSS)
Sanfilipo et al. (2000)	Bilateral STG GMV reduced but not WMV	STG volume is not correlated with H, TD, or with negative symptoms
Sanfilipo et al. (2002)	Bilateral STG GMV reduced but not WMV	STG volume is not correlated with H, TD
Shenton et al. (1992)	Left STG GMV reduced	Negative correlation between left pSTG GMV and TD, no correlation between STG GMV and H
Sumich et al. (2002)	Left PT volume reduced while no significance in HG volume	-
Takahashi et al. (2006)	Bilateral STG and HG volume reduced, left PT volume reduced, bilateral caudal STG volume reduced	Left rostal STG volume negatively correlated with delusions especially in early SCZ, left PP volume negatively correlated with H and delusions
Taylor et al. (2005)	Right pSTG total volume and WMV enlargement, bilaterally pSTG (WMV increases), right HG (WMV increases)	-
Tune et al., (1996)	Left STG volume decreased while only reduced tendency in right STG volume	Negative correlation between STG volume (especially left side) and elevated striatal D2 receptor elevation, rSTG volume negatively correlated with age but not with duration of illness or premorbid social functioning, left STG volume negatively correlated with age and premorbid social functioning but not with duration of illness
Vita et al. (1995)	No	PC between left STG volume and verbal fluency test performance, STG laterality index was correlated with Thought, Language and Communication (TLC) scale total scores
Woodruff et al. (1997)	No	-
Yamasaki et al. (2007)	Significant reduction in bilateral PT GMV while no significant difference in HG GMV	Correlation between smaller right PT GMV and positive symptom and delusional behavior while no correlation between HG GMV and clinical symptoms
Yamasue et al. (2004a)	Bilateral pSTG GMV reduced	STG volume is not correlated with H or TD
Yamasue et al. (2004b)	Left PT GMV reduced while no significance in HG GMV	Left hemisphere magnetic mismatch field in response to change in speech sounds showed a significant PC with PT GMV

A = anterior; AH = Auditory Hallucination; aSTG = anterior STG; BPRS = the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale; GM = grey matter; GMV = gray matter volume; H = Hallucination; P = posterior.; pSTG = posterior STG; PANSS = the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; PC = positive correlation (correlated); rSTG = right STG; SAPS = the Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms; SCZ = schizophrenia; TD = Thought Disorder, WM = white matter; WMV = white matter volume; - = not available.

be reversed after a mean interval of 1 year (Keshavan et al., 1998). Kasai et al. (2003a; 2003b) found decreases in GMV over time in the left STG, more pronounced in the posterior portion than anterior portion; they also found greater decreases over time in the GMV of the left HG, and left PT after mean internal of 1.5 years. One study on childhood-

onset SCZ patients reported significantly greater decreases in bilateral STG and posterior STG, and right anterior STG during the 2-year follow-up interval (Jacobsen et al., 1998). Moreover, decline in right posterior STG was associated with high total scores on the Scale for the Assessment of Positive Symptoms at baseline and at follow-up. The limited studies may support the progressive change of STG (reduced volume) over time in SCZ patients, which is more pronounced in the left side.

4. Discussions

The possible role of STG in the pathology of SCZ has interested investigators for many years. Since Barta et al. (1990) conducted the first MRI study of STG volume in this patient group, the number of STG-focused MRI studies has increased substantially. Frequently used, the ROI method has much strength, namely anatomical validity. Although recently investigators have begun to employ the rapid voxel-based morphometry method, it is not a replacement for manual ROI-based analyses.

4.1. ROI volumes change in SCZ patients

A perusal of Table 3 indicates that the significantly different STG and/or subregional volume in patients with SCZ (when compared to normal, healthy control subjects) is in at least one STG subregion and not confined to the left STG as reported by Barta et al. (1990). For example, some studies especially on childhood-onset or adolescent patients or only left-handed patients (Holinger et al., 1999) showed there were volume changes in the bilateral STG or subregions and/or in the right side. The volume changes in STG or subregions were reported in several kinds of samples including the first-episode SCZ patients or related diagnosis (Hirayasu et al., 2000; Hirayasu et al., 1998; Kasai et al., 2003a; Kasai et al., 2003b; Keshavan et al., 1998; McCarley et al., 2002), chronic SCZ patients (e.g. Anderson et al., 2002; Bryant et al., 1999; Shenton et al., 1992), adult-onset patients or childhood-onset patients (Jacobsen et al., 1998; Jacobsen et al., 1996; Matsumoto et al., 2001; Taylor et al., 2005) and the late-life onset SCZ patients (Barta et al., 1997b).

In total 35 studies reported the positive results. Amongst them, most showed the reduced effect in STG or several subregional volumes, which is consistent with the results of some VBM studies. For instance, some VBM studies found there were reduced STG or subregional volume changes such as in the left STG (Bonilha et al., 2008; Jayakumar et al., 2005) and bilateral STG (Chua et al., 2007; Tregellas et al., 2007). The significant volume change is more reported. However, a question regarding whether STG or subregion volume changes are static or progressive or reversible is currently a controversial topic and has remained elusive (see reviews by DeLisi, 1999 and Harrison, 1999). Four follow-up studies showed significant progression of STG including HG and PT volume changes over time at least among subgroups of people with SCZ, which were also supported by some studies including VBM studies (e.g. van Haren et al., 2007; Meisenzahl et al., 2008). There is a suggestion that STG volume changes may be

progressive, which conflicts with the neurodevelopmental model of SCZ (e.g. Bloom 1993), and one study we reviewed that did not find the progressive change over time (e.g. DeLisi and Hoff, 2005). Hence, this requires more thorough and comprehensive assessment. In addition, we found the volume reduction of STG was often reported to be a specific abnormality in SCZ. For example, two studies compared the volume change between SCZ patients and bipolar manic psychosis and found low volume of the left posterior STG or left PT and total HG grey matter is specific to SCZ (Hirayasu et al., 1998; Hirayasu et al.; 2000, also see a review by Hirayasu, 2007). Likewise, another study found left anterior STG reduced and an alteration of normal posterior STG asymmetry was specific to SCZ not bipolar disorder (Pearlson et al., 1997). One study reported bilaterally smaller anterior STG is specific to later-life onset SCZ while not in Alzheimer's disease (Barta et al., 1997b). Certainly, it needs more studies to further replicate this specific volume change for SCZ patients.

Amongst the 35 studies that reported positive results, about 43% of these studies (fifteen of 35 studies) reported a unilateral effect of reduction where that is most pronounced on the left side. These studies reported significantly reduced volume in the left STG including anterior, anterior third, posterior STG, left PT and left HG (see Table 3). The left STG is of particular interest to SCZ which is a cortical area thought to be a substrate of auditory and language processing (Galaburda et al., 1978) and may be related to the common symptoms including AH and TD. Crow et al. (1989) postulated the left hemisphere may be more vulnerable to insult or damage because it develops later than the right hemisphere. Particularly, PT, as a portion of the surface of the posterior STG, is important as a candidate for the neural basis of SCZ, as it is related to disturbances in language and thought in SCZ and it evinces the most prominent left-right asymmetry (see reviews by Pearlson, 1997; Shapleske et al., 1999). The PT is larger on the left than the right in the normal controls, whilst in the SCZ patients reversed asymmetry of the PT was reported because left PT volume reduced and some studies also showed right PT was larger than the left in SCZ compared with normal controls (see a review by Shapleske et al., 1999). In the studies we reviewed, twelve studies particularly measured PT volume and eight of 12 studies showed volume reduced in the left PT which is consistent with most previous studies.

Except the unilateral effect, in our review there were about 37% of studies (thirteen of 35 studies) that reported bilaterally reduced STG or subregional volumes and 17% of studies (six of 35 studies) reported the mixed effect of volume changes of STG or its subregions including unilateral and bilateral effects in different subregions. This effect of volume change is in contrast with the effect reported by a review (Honea et al., 2005). The review included 15 VBM studies and we found that bilateral STG reductions were the most frequent finding. Among them, 57% of studies found this deficit in the left hemisphere, and 50% found it in the right hemisphere. The complicated volume changes in these studies we reviewed may suggest the variety of STG morphological abnormalities in patients with SCZ which may not be confined to a simply unilateral effect or bilateral effect. The reduced or increased effect on STG or subregional

volumes change when there are different kinds of partition methods employed by these studies, while reduced effect of volume was the most common change in SCZ.

Although volume change of the STG (or subregion) in SCZ has been fairly well demonstrated, it is a fact that there are still about 24% of studies which reported negative results about STG volume change, which also can be found in some VBM studies. For example, Honea et al. (2005) reported 6 of 15 VBM studies had no difference in STG volume in SCZ patients when compared with controls. One recent VBM study (Wolf et al., 2008) also showed a negative result about STG volume alteration in patients with SCZ. One of the explanations for this discrepancy about positive and negative results is difference in the methodology, i.e. the type of image sequence, MRI slice thickness selected; neuroanatomic definition of STG, method used to trace the STG (GM versus GM and WM) and sample selection. In 46 studies we reviewed, three of 11 studies which reported negative results acquired 5 mm thick MRI slices which may be too gross to allow for the detection of subtle volume changes (DeLisi and Hoff, 2005; DeLisi et al., 1994; Vita et al., 1995).

4.2. Correlations between ROI volume changes and common symptoms

The STG MRI volume abnormalities have been a rich source of correlations with SCZ clinical data (McCarley et al., 1999) although the brain structural correlates of specific symptoms, such as AHs, are not clearly defined. The STG includes the primary and association auditory cortices and has been strongly implicated in the experience of auditory hallucinations (O'Daly et al., 2007). Previous research has reported the complex AHs only in the vicinity of the STG when electrically stimulated multiple cortical and subcortical areas in bilateral hemisphere of epileptic patients (Penfield and Perot, 1963). The result from functional magnetic resonance imaging studies also showed SCZ patients with AH had increased functional activation in this area (Shergill et al., 2000).

Among 30 studies including the correlation analysis with symptoms, 60% of studies (18 studies) reported positive results about the correlations between STG or subregional volume and clinical symptoms or syndrome. Amongst 18 studies, Barta et al. (1990) was the first to report a negative correlation between left STG volume and AH. Later studies also found several STG subregions to be correlated with hallucinations (especially AH). These regions are mostly in the left side: left STG, left PT, left PP. Only one study reported severity of hallucinations as inversely related to right STG volume, in an adolescent SCZ sample (Jacobsen et al., 1998). The result of this review suggests that left STG or subregions appear to be more involved in the generation of AH than right side. It is not consistent with a recent VBM study which reported that right STG GMV loss was correlated with severity of AHs (O'Daly et al., 2007). Up to 70% of SCZ patients suffer from AH (Nayani and David, 1996). AHs remain one of the most intriguing phenomena in psychopathology although some hypotheses have formed evidence including that from imaging studies. The findings in our review support STG or its subregions may be the common candidate region related with the production of hallucinations. It is certain that there are other brain

structural abnormalities associated with AH in SCZ such as in the left insula, middle temporal gyrus besides STG, which can compose a network of brain areas and their respective contributions to the hallucinatory experience (see a review by Allen et al., 2008).

TD is a hallmark symptom and it is a primary feature of SCZ. As early as 1911, Bleuler predicted that TD would ultimately be linked to a brain abnormality. Shenton et al. (1992) observed that left posterior STG volume was associated with TD. In the current review there were a number of studies reporting a significant correlation between TD and STG or subregional volume. These ROIs are left STG, left posterior STG, left rostral STG, right STG, right anterior STG, left PT, and left PP in several studies. The different ROIs correlated with TD may be due to the differences between different samples, the diversity of TD symptomatology when scanned, and partition methodology.

These findings (the correlations between clinical symptoms including H and TD, and STG or subregional volume) lend support to the contention that STG or subregional volume change especially in the left side may result in clinical manifestations that form the core of the SCZ psychopathology. However, we also noted that not all studies showed the significant correlations between clinical symptoms and STG or subregions volume changes.

4.3. Confounding factors and methodological considerations

There are a number of confounding factors and methodological issues in brain structure studies, which may lead to the inconsistencies among some studies we reviewed. They included medication effects, different sample sizes, overrepresentation of men, sampling from a chronically ill population, variability in the size of brain structures in the general population, problems in measurement procedures (thickness and spacing of slices), differences in measurement procedures among different research centers (use of different ROI boundary definitions), and failure or different methods to control for head size, age, and hand preference (see a review by Leung and Chue, 2000).

A major confounding factor in neuroimaging studies in general and in studies investigating brain volume change of SCZ patients in particular, is the (cumulative) intake of antipsychotic medication (see a review by van Haren et al., 2008). It is also a confounding factor when interpreting the STG volume (change). The best way to control the confounding factor is to recruit the neuroleptic medication naïve or free patients. It is acknowledged that recruiting adequate numbers of this cohort for this type of study could be difficult. Amongst 46 studies reviewed, only two of the 46 studies included purely neuroleptic-naïve SCZ patients (Keshavan et al., 1998, Kim et al., 2003). One study employed the neuroleptic-naïve and neuroleptic-free patients (Tune et al., 1996). There are six studies which included a few neuroleptic-naïve or neuroleptic-free patients not, entire samples. Most of the patients in 36 studies were receiving some kind of neuroleptic treatments when scanned by MRI except the information about history of medication in 8 studies is not available. Some studies found that STG or PP volume change was correlated with medication effects

(Crespo-Facorro et al., 2004; Tune et al., 1996) while two studies found no correlation between STG volume change and medication effect (Kasai et al., 2003a; Matsumoto et al., 2001). It is therefore useful to study the early phase of the illness (such as first-episode patients) in order to exclude the confounding effects of illness chronicity and long-term medication (van Haren et al., 2008). Eight of the 46 studies collected data of first-episode patients. Among them, six studies reported positive results although having different partition methods, such as reduced left STG (Keshavan et al., 1998), reduced left posterior STG (Hirayasu et al., 1998; Kasai et al., 2003a; McCarley et al., 2002), reduced left PT and total HG (Hirayasu et al., 2000; Kasai et al., 2003b; McCarley et al., 2002). Two of the 8 studies did not find the significant difference in STG or subregional volume in patients with SCZ (DeLisi et al., 1994; DeLisi and Hoff, 2005), but it may be assumed that relatively thick slices (5 mm) through the STG will not detect the subtle changes occurring in SCZ and may account for the negative findings (DeLisi et al., 1994).

One of the major factors affecting the variance of general and regional cerebral volume is sex (Nopoulos et al., 1997). There are a number of evidences from port-mortem studies (e.g. Vogeley et al., 1998) and MRI studies on gender specific STG volumetric difference in SCZ (see a review by Leung and Chue, 2000). In these ROI studies we reviewed, it is a pervasive phenomenon that near 50% of studies selected only male subjects. Female subjects are under-represented in the literature and insight from sex differences may be lost. It is necessary to include both male and female subjects to reflect accordingly the morbidity rate as a function of gender and investigate sex differences in STG volume or correlation with some clinical variables, in our opinion.

MRI slice thickness is another factor to potentially affect the results, and this is directly related to the visual resolution of the image. Partial volume artifact (the averaging of signal intensities across all tissue within the slice) increases with slice thickness and results in a blurring of anatomical boundaries. Further, for any given slice thickness, partial volume artifact introduces more error as the volume of a given Region of Interest decreases and as the surface area to volume ratio increases (Flaum et al., 1995). Slice thickness of the studies in the current review ranged from 1 mm to 5 mm. Only three of the 46 studies used 1 mm and three studies used 5 mm, but the majority used 1.5 mm (21 of 46 studies) and 3 mm (12 of 46 studies). When reviewing STG or subregional volume change, there was no significant difference in all of the three studies which acquired 5 mm thick slices. It may be that the slices scanned were too thick to detect the subtle changes in STG or subregional volume change occurring in SCZ (DeLisi et al., 1994). Only three studies (Gur et al., 2000; Matsumoto et al., 2001; Takahashi et al., 2006) using 1 mm slice thicknesses of MRI scans reported bilaterally reduced STG volume, and among them one study reported that STG volume decrease up to 11.5% exceeded that of whole brain but only in male patients (Gur et al., 2000). MRI technology has advanced considerably over the past decade to a point where the acquisition of 1 mm slices is a virtual routine. Future studies will undoubtedly take advantage of more advanced techniques to further control bias and enhance precision,

allowing a more accurate and detailed assessment STG or subregional volume anomalies.

The grey-white matter differentiation is important for SCZ volumetric studies. It has been reported that GM deficits in the STG are more pronounced than WM deficits in SCZ (e.g. Gur et al., 2000; Marsh et al., 1997). Measuring GM volume separately may be more sensitive than measuring of the volume grey and white matter combined (Shenton et al., 1997). However, about 12 of 46 studies reported a volume lumped GM and WM. Those studies had combined GM with WM taken into account in volumetric analyses, which is a fact that could have obscured differences of only one of these two components and also makes it difficult to assess whether group differences were related to alterations in grey matter volume, white matter volume, or both. It may contribute to the inconsistent findings of 46 studies. As previous review suggested (see a review by McCarley et al., 1999), it also often renders comparison between studies problematic.

There were other confounding factors or methodological issues including clinical heterogeneity and differences of definition of ROI landmarks. STG neuroimaging results are not always replicated, which also probably reflects lack of homogeneity of the study samples. The diversity of the symptomatology in SCZ, unstable symptoms at different stages of illness, and variation in sample sizes may lead to different results of imaging studies. The kinds of ROI anatomical definitions or landmarks may lead to bias although one study did not find the significant differences of PT asymmetry in patients with SCZ using three definitions of PT borders (Meisenzahl et al., 2002). In addition, the difference of MRI acquisition parameters besides slice thickness, partition methods of ROI, the methods of volumetric correction, sample size and other factors may also lead to different results.

4.4. Limitations of the review

There were some limitations of the review study. First, we chose to only analyze ROI measurements of STG or subregional volume. This inevitably neglects potentially important differences in other brain regions. However, we focused on the STG because it is one of the most commonly implicated regions of brain structure abnormalities in SCZ and closely linked to H and TD (see reviews by Allen et al., 2008; Pearlson, 1997; Shenton et al., 2001). Second, the ROI method has been the gold standard for structural brain MRI examinations, namely anatomical validity. However, ROI-based volumetric analysis also has some limitations including but not limited to the time-consuming nature of manual ROI drawings, both in delineating a priori-defined regions and in the rigorous training needed to ensure rater reliability (Kubicki et al., 2002). In our reviewed literature, there was relatively high rater reliability in the measurement of STG or subregion volume in almost all studies, which suggests that the reliability, the potential limitation, was not a major concern. The ROI method needs the large time investment, which often limits tracing studies to the examination of a small number of regions of interest, neglecting potentially important differences in other brain regions (Tregellas et al., 2007). However,

even a rapid and fully automated whole-brain measurement technique, VBM method, is not a replacement for manual ROIbased analyses (Giuliani et al., 2005). The ROI method still has many strengths. Third, our review focused on only MRI studies, by definition not including other approaches such as post mortem studies. Postmortem studies of the brains of SCZ patients have been conducted for over a century. However, neuropathological changes from postmortem are subtle and no pathognomonic "lesions" have been reported (Keshavan et al., 2008). Postmortem studies have been limited by the problems of postmortem tissue being compromised by the difficulties in making ante-mortem diagnoses, long postmortem intervals, variable treatment of the specimens after death, shrinkage or expansion during preservation, variable tissue quality, typically small sample sizes and the difficulty in finding appropriate controls (Allen et al., 2002; Lewis, 2002; Keshavan et al., 2008). These limitations made us prefer selection of only MRI studies. Particularly, the brain changes at the time of symptom onset are only observable by imaging technology. Although data from postmortem studies are still useful, at present MRI is the most commonly used method to study brain size and macrostructure, supplanting postmortem surveys and measures of brain size based on the external size of the skull (Peters et al., 1998). The main advantages of in vivo MRI over postmortem studies include much greater control over subject selection and the ability to digitally manipulate brain images, allowing parcellation and measurement of a variety of brain subregions and structures (Allen et al., 2002). Moreover, there are only a small number of postmortem studies focusing on STG or subregions and most of them are postmortem microscopic studies (e.g. Bowden et al., 2008). There are only four studies focused on STG volume change. Among them, 3 of four studies reported positive results, which found the volume reduction in the left STG (Highley et al., 1999), left PT (Falkai et al., 1995), or middle compartment of STG (reaching from the mamillary body to the lateral geniculate body) (Vogeley et al., 1998) when compared with controls. One study found no significant difference in the volume of the left or right STG in SCZ patients (Hobson et al., 1995). The results from postmortem studies are similar to the results of MRI studies: the varieties of volume change and leftsided reduction are more prominent.

5. Conclusions

We reviewed 46 studies that used ROI volumetry to identify STG or its subregions volume changes in the brains of patients with SCZ. Female and left-handed subjects are under-represented in the literature and insight from sex and handedness differences may be lost. Of the 46 studies, 35 reported a significant difference in STG or subregional volume including bilateral or unilateral ROI and volume reduction was the common change in patients with schizophrenia. There were 30 studies reporting correlations between STG or its subregional volume changes and clinical symptoms or syndrome and 18 of them found positive results. Among them, left STG or subregions appear to be more involved in the generation of H and TD than right side. These findings lend support to the contention that STG or subregional volume change may result in the clinical manifestations that form the core of the SCZ psychopathology. Clinical heterogeneity, MRI acquisition parameters, anatomical landmarks for ROI and demographic characteristics of subjects are probably main factors that lead to different results. Thus, it is likely that more consistent structural differences in SCZ would be reported if ROI volumetry was applied to clearly defined patient groups characterized by symptom profile, age, sex, handedness, and disease duration using the same or similar MRI acquisition parameters and standard anatomical landmarks for ROI definition.

Acknowledgments

Research in this study was partially supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) project grant (PBF) and supported by China Scholarship Council of Educational Ministry (JHS). PBF is supported by a NHMRC Practitioner Fellowship. We would like to thank the authors of some original studies reviewed that we corresponded with, who timely and selflessly provided the invaluable information the review needed. We are also thankful to all the authors of the articles we reviewed and their contributions to the ROI studies.

REFERENCES

- Allen, J.S., Damasio, H., Thomas, J., Grabowski, T.J., 2002. Normal neuroanatomical variation in the human brain: an MRI-volumetric study. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 118, 341–358.
- Allen, P., Larøi, F., McGuire, P.K., Aleman, A., 2008. The hallucinating brain: a review of structural and functional neuroimaging studies of hallucinations. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 32, 175–191.
- Anderson, J.E., Wible, C.G., McCarley, R.W., Jakab, M., Kasai, K., Shenton, M.E., 2002. An MRI study of temporal lobe abnormalities and negative symptoms in chronic schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 58, 123–134.
- Arndt, S., Cohen, G., Alliger, R.J., Swayze, V.W., Andreasen, N.C., 1991. Problems with ratio and proportion measures of imaged cerebral structures. Psychiatry Res.: Neuroimaging 40, 79–89.
- Barta, P.E., Pearlson, G.D., Powers, R.E., Richards, S.S., Tune, L.E., 1990. Auditory hallucinations and smaller superior temporal gyral volume in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 147, 1457–1462.
- Barta, P.E., Pearlson, G.D., Brill, L.B., Royall, R., McGilchrist, I.K., Pulver, A.E., Powers, R.E., Casanova, M.F., Tien, A.Y., Frangou, S., Petty, R.G., 1997a. Planum temporale asymmetry reversal in schizophrenia: replication and relationship to gray matter abnormalities. Am. J. Psychiatry 154, 661–667.
- Barta, P.E., Powers, R.E., Aylward, E.H., Chase, G.A., Harris, G.J., Rabins, P.V., Tune, L.E., Pearlson, G.D., 1997b. Quantitative MRI volume changes in late onset schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease compared to normal controls. Psychiatry Res. 68, 65–75.
- Bleuler, E., 1911–1950. Dementia Praecox or the Group of Schizophrenias. International Univ. Press, New York.
- Bloom, F.E., 1993. Advancing a neurodevelopmental origin for schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 50, 224–227.
- Bonilha, L., Molnar, C., Horner, M.D., Anderson, B., Forster, L., George, M.S., Nahas, Z., 2008. Neurocognitive deficits and

prefrontal cortical atrophy in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 101, 142–151.

Brierley, B., Shaw, P., David, A.S., 2002. The human amygdala: a systematic review and meta-analysis of volumetric magnetic resonance imaging. Brain Res. Rev. 39, 84–105.

Bryant, N.L., Buchanan, R.W., Vladar, K., Breier, A., Rothman, M., 1999. Gender differences in temporal lobe structures of patients with schizophrenia: a volumetric MRI study. Am. J. Psychiatry 156, 603–609.

Bowden, N.A., Scott, R.J., Tooney, P.A., 2008. Altered gene expression in the superior temporal gyrus in schizophrenia. BMC Genomics 9, 199.

Buchanan, R.W., Francis, A., Arango, C., Miller, K., Lefkowitz, D.M., McMahon, R.P., Barta, P.E., Pearlson, G.D., 2004.
Morphometric assessment of the heteromodal association cortex in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 161, 322–331.

Chua, S.E., Cheung, C., Cheung, V., Tsang, J.T.K., Chen, E.Y.H., Wong, J.C.H., Cheung, J.P.Y., Yip, L., Tai, K.S., Suckling, J., McAlonan, G.M., 2007. Cerebral grey, white matter and csf in never-medicated, first-episode schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 89, 12–21.

Crow, T.J., Ball, J., Bloom, S.R., Brown, R., Bruton, C.J., Colter, N., Frith, C.D., Johnstone, E.C., Owens, D.G., Roberts, G.W., 1989. Schizophrenia as an anomaly of development of cerebral asymmetry. A postmortem study and a proposal concerning the genetic basis of the disease. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 46, 1145–1150.

Crespo-Facorro, B., Kim, J.J., Chemerinski, E., Magnotta, V., Andreasen, N.C., Nopoulos, P., 2004. Morphometry of the superior temporal plane in schizophrenia: relationship to clinical correlates. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 16, 284–294.

DeLisi, L.E., 1999. Defining the course of brain structural change in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res.: Neuroimaging 92, 1–9.

DeLisi, L.E., Hoff, A.L., 2005. Failure to find progressive temporal lobe volume decreases 10 years subsequent to a first episode of schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res.: Neuroimaging 138, 265–268.

DeLisi, L.E., Hoff, A.L., Neale, C., Kushner, M., 1994. Asymmetries in the superior temporal lobe in male and female first-episode schizophrenic patients: measures of the planum temporale and superior temporal gyrus by MRI. Schizophr. Res. 12, 19–28.

Falkai, P., Bogerts, B., Schneider, T., Greve, B., Pfeiffer, U., Pilzet, K., Gonsiorzcyk, C., Majtenyi, C., Ovary, I., 1995. Disturbed planum temporale asymmetry in schizophrenia. A quantitative post-mortem study. Schizophr. Res. 14, 161–176.

Flaum, M., Swayze, V.W., O'Leary, D.S., Yuh, W.T., Ehrhardt, J.C., Arndt, S.V., Andreasen, N.C., 1995. Effects of diagnosis, laterality, and gender on brain morphology in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 152, 704–714.

García-Martí, G., Aguilar, E.J., Lull, J.J., Martí-Bonmatí, L., Escartí, M.J., Manjón, J.V., Moratal, D., Robles, M., Sanjuán, J., 2008. Schizophrenia with auditory hallucinations: a voxel-based morphometry study. Prog. Neuro-psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 32, 72–80.

Galaburda, A.M., Sandies, F., Geschwind, N., 1978. Human brain: cytoarchitectonic left-right asymmetries in the temporal speech region. Arch. Neurol. 35, 812–817.

Giuliani, N.R., Calhoun, V.D., Pearlson, G.D., Francis, A., Buchanan, R.W., 2005. Voxel-based morphometry versus region of interest: a comparison of two methods for analyzing gray matter differences in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 74, 135–147.

Gur, R.E., Turetsky, B.I., Cowell, P.E., Finkelman, C., Maany, V., Grossman, R.I., Arnold, S.E., Bilker, W.B., Gur, R.C., 2000. Temporolimbic volume reductions in schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57, 769–775.

Harrison, P.J., 1999. The neuropathology of schizophrenia. A

critical review of the data and their interpretation. Brain 122, 593–624.

Havermans, R., Honig, A., Vuurman, E.F., Krabbendam, L., Wilmink, J., Lamers, T., Verheecke, C.J., Jolles, J., Romme, M.A.J., van Praag, H.M., 1999. A controlled study of temporal lobe structure volumes and P300 responses in schizophrenic patients with persistent auditory hallucinations. Schizophr. Res. 38, 151–158.

Highley, J.R., McDonald, B., Walker, M.A., Esiri, M.M., Crow, T.J., 1999. Schizophrenia and temporal lobe asymmetry. A post-mortem stereological study of tissue volume. Br. J. Psychiatry 175, 127–134.

Hirayasu, Y., 2007. Brain imaging in schizophrenia. Neuropathology 27, 601–603.

Hirayasu, Y., Shenton, M.E., Salisbury, D.F., Dickey, C.C., Fischer, A., Mazzoni, P., Kisler, T., Arakaki, H., Kwon, J.S., Anderson, J.E., Yurgelun-Todd, D., Tohen, M., McCarley, R.W., 1998. Lower left temporal lobe MRI volumes in patients with first-episode schizophrenia compared with psychotic patients with first-episode affective disorder and normal subjects. Am. J. Psychiatry 155, 1384–1391.

Hirayasu, Y., McCarley, R.W., Salisbury, D.F., Tanaka, S., Kwon, J.S., Frumin, M., Snyderman, D., Yurgelun-Todd, D., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., Shenton, M.E., 2000. Planum temporale and Heschl gyrus volume reduction in schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging study of first-episode patients. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57, 692–699.

Hobson, T., Falkai, P., Bogerts, B., Schneider, T., Pfeiffer, U., 1995. The superior temporal gyrus in schizophrenia. A morphometric post-mortem study. Schizophr. Res.1 15–27.

Holinger, D.P., Shenton, M.E., Wible, C.G., Donnino, R, Kikinis, R, Jolesz, FA, McCarley, RW., 1999. Superior temporal gyrus volume abnormalities and thought disorder in left-handed schizophrenic men. Am. J. Psychiatry 156, 1730–1735.

Honea, R., Crow, T.J., Passingham, D., Mackay, C.E., 2005. Regional deficits in brain volume in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. Am. J. Psychiatry 162, 2233–2245.

Jacobsen, L.K., Giedd, J.N., Vaituzis, A.C., Hamburger, S.D., Rajapakse, J.C., Frazier, J.A., Kaysen, D., Lenane, M.C., McKenna, K., Gordon, C.T., Rapoport, J.L., 1996. Temporal lobe morphology in childhood-onset schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 153, 355–361.

Jacobsen, L.K., Giedd, J.N., Castellanos, F.X., Vaituzis, A.C., Hamburger, S.D., Kumra, S., Lenane, M.C., Rapoport, J.L., 1998. Progressive reduction of temporal lobe structures in childhood-onset schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 155, 678–685.

Jayakumar, P.N., Venkatasubramanian, G., Gangadhar, B.N., Janakiramaiah, N., Keshavan, M.S., 2005. Optimized voxel-based morphometry of gray matter volume in first-episode, antipsychotic-naive schizophrenia. Prog. Neuro-psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 29, 587–591.

Kasai, K., Shenton, M.E., Salisbury, D.F., Hirayasu, Y., Lee, C.U., Ciszewski, A.A., Yurgelun-Todd, D., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., McCarley, R.W., 2003a. Progressive decrease of left superior temporal gyrus gray matter volume in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 160, 156–164.

Kasai, K., Shenton, M.E., Salisbury, D.F., Hirayasu, Y., Onitsuka, T., Spencer, M.H., Yurgelun-Todd, D.A., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., McCarley, R.W., 2003b. Progressive decrease of left Heschl gyrus and planum temporale gray matter volume in first-episode schizophrenia: a longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 60, 766–775.

Keshavan, M.S., Haas, G.L., Kahn, C.E., Aguilar, E., Dick, E.L., Schooler, N.R., Sweeney, J.A., Pettegrew, J.W., 1998. Superior temporal gyrus and the course of early schizophrenia: progressive, static, or reversible? J. Psychiatr. Res. 32, 161–167.

Keshavan, M.S., Tandon, R., Boutros, N.N., Nasrallah, H.A, 2008.

Schizophrenia, "just the facts": what we know in 2008 Part 3: Neurobiology, Schizophrenia Research 106, 89–107.

- Kim, J.J., Crespo-Facorro, B., Andreasen, N.C., O'Leary, D.S., Zhang, B.Q., Harris, G., Magnotta, V.A., 2000. An MRI-based parcellation method for the temporal lobe. NeuroImage 11, 271–288.
- Kim, J.J., Crespo-Facorro, B., Andreasen, N.C., O'Leary, D.S., Magnotta, V.A., Nopoulos, P., 2003. Morphology of the lateral superior temporal gyrus in neuroleptic naive patients with schizophrenia: relationship to symptoms. Schizophr. Res. 60, 173–181.
- Kubicki, M., Shenton, M.E., Salisbury, D.F., Hirayasu, Y., Kasai, K., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., McCarley, R.W., 2002. Voxel-based morphometric analysis of gray matter in first episode schizophrenia. NeuroImage 17, 1711–1719.
- Kulynych, J.J., Vladar, K., Jones, D.W., Weinberger, D.R., 1996. Superior temporal gyrus volume in schizophrenia: a study using MRI morphometry assisted by surface rendering. Am. J. Psychiatry 153, 50–56.
- Kwon, J.S., McCarley, R.W., Hirayasu, Y., Anderson, J.E., Fischer, I.A., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., Shenton, M.E., 1999. Left planum temporale volume reduction in schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 56, 142–148.
- Leung, A., Chue, P., 2000. Sex differences in schizophrenia: a review of the literature. Acta. Psychiatr. Scand. 101, 3–38.
- Lewis, D.A., 2002. The human brain revisited: opportunities and challenges in postmortem studies of psychiatric disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 26, 143–154.
- Marsh, L., Harris, D., Lim, K.O., Beal, M., Hoff, A.L., Minn, K., Csernansky, J.G., DeMent, S., Faustman, W.O., Sullivan, E.V., Pfefferbaum, A., 1997. Structural magnetic resonance imaging abnormalities in men with severe chronic schizophrenia and an early age at clinical onset. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 54, 1104–1112.
- Mathalon, D.H., Sullivan, E.V., Lim, K.O., Pfefferbaum, A., 2001. Progressive brain volume changes and the clinical course of schizophrenia in men: a longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 58, 148–157.
- Matsumoto, H., Simmons, A., Williams, S., Hadjulis, M., Pipe, R., Murray, R., Frangou, S., 2001. Superior temporal gyrus abnormalities in early-onset schizophrenia: similarities and differences with adult-onset schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 158, 1299–1304.
- McCarley, R.W., Shenton, M.E., O'Donnell, B.F., Faux, S.F., Kikinis, R., Nestor, P.G., Jolesz, F.A., 1993. Auditory P300 abnormalities and left posterior superior temporal gyrus volume reduction in schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 50, 190–197.
- McCarley, R.W., Wible, C.G., Frumin, M., Hirayasu, Y., Levitt, J.J., Fischer, I.A., Shenton, M.E., 1999. MRI anatomy of schizophrenia. Biol. Psychiatry 45, 1099–1119.
- McCarley, R.W., Salisbury, D.F., Hirayasu, Y., Yurgelun-Todd, D.A., Tohen, M., Zarate, C., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., Shenton, M.E., 2002. Association between smaller left posterior superior temporal gyrus volume on magnetic resonance imaging and smaller left temporal P300 amplitude in first-episode schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 59, 321–331.
- Meisenzahl, E.M., Zetzsche, T., Preuss, U., Frodl, T., Leinsinger, G., Möller, H.J., 2002. Does the definition of borders of the planum temporale influence the results in schizophrenia? Am. J. Psychiatry 159, 1198–1200.
- Meisenzahl, E.M., Frodl, T., Müller, D., Schmitt, G., Gallinat, J., Zetzsche, T., Marcuse, A., Juckel, G., Leinsinger, G., Hahn, K., Möller, H.J., Hegerl, U., 2004. Superior temporal gyrus and P300 in schizophrenia: a combined ERP/structural magnetic resonance imaging investigation. J. Psychiatr. Res. 38, 153–162.
- Meisenzahl, E.M., Koutsouleris, N., Bottlender, R., Scheucrecker, J., Jager, A., Teipel, S.J., Holzinger, S., Frodl, T., Preuss, U., Schmitt, G., Burgermeister, B., Reiser, A., Born, C., Moller, H.J., 2008. Structural brain alterations at different stages of

schizophrenia: a voxel-based morphometric study. Schizophr. Res. 104, 44–60.

- Menon, R.R., Barta, P.E., Aylward, E.H., Richards, S.S., Vaughn, D.D., Tien, A.Y., Harris, G.J., Pearlson, G.D., 1995. Posterior superior temporal gyrus in schizophrenia: grey matter changes and clinical correlates. Schizophr. Res. 16, 127–135.
- Nayani, T.H., David, A.S., 1996. The auditory hallucination: a phenomenological survey. Psychol. Med. 26, 177–189.
- Nopoulos, P., Flaum, M., Andreasen, N.C., 1997. Sex differences in brain morphology in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 154, 1648–1654.
- Onitsuka, T., Shenton, M.E., Salisbury, D.F., Dickey, C.C., Kasai, K., Toner, S.K., Frumin, M., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., McCarley, R.W., 2004. Middle and inferior temporal gyrus gray matter volume abnormalities in chronic schizophrenia: an MRI study. Am. J. Psychiatry 161, 1603–1611.
- O'Daly, O.G., Frangou, S., Chitnis, X., Shergill, S.S., 2007. Brain structural changes in schizophrenia patients with persistent hallucinations. Psychiatry Res.: Neuroimaging 156, 15–21.
- Pearlson, G.D., 1997. superior temporal gyrus and planum temporale in schizophrenia: a selective review. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiat. 21, 1203–1229.
- Pearlson, G.D., Barta, P.E., Powers, R.E., Menon, R.R., Richards, S.S., Aylward, E.H., Federman, E.B., Chase, G.A., Petty, R.G., Tien, A.Y., 1997. Medial and superior temporal gyral volumes and cerebral asymmetry in schizophrenia versus bipolar disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 41, 1–14.
- Penfield, W., Perot, P., 1963. The brain's record of auditory and visual experiences. Brain 86, 595–705.
- Peters, M., Jancke, L., Staiger, J.F., Schlaug, G., Huang, Y., Steinmetz, H., 1998. Unsolved problems in comparing brain sizes in Homo sapiens. Brain Cogn. 37, 254–285.
- Rajarethinam, R.P., DeQuardo, J.R., Nalepa, R., Tandon, R., 2000. Superior temporal gyrus in schizophrenia: a volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. Schizophr. Res. 41, 303–312.
- Sallet, P.C., Elkis, H., Alves, T.M., Oliveira, J.R., Sassi, E., de Castro, C.C., Busatto, G.F., Gattaz, W.F., 2003. Rightward cerebral asymmetry in subtypes of schizophrenia according to Leonhard's classification and to DSM-IV: a structural MRI study. Psychiatry Res.: Neuroimaging 123, 65–79.
- Sanfilipo, M., Lafargue, T., Rusinek, H., Arena, L., Loneragan, C., Lautin, A., Feiner, D., Rotrosen, J., Wolkin, A., 2000. Volumetric measure of the frontal and temporal lobe regions in schizophrenia: relationship to negative symptoms. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57, 471–480.
- Sanfilipo, M., Lafargue, T., Rusinek, H., Arena, L., Loneragan, C., Lautin, A., Rotrosen, J., Wolkin, A., 2002. Cognitive performance in schizophrenia: relationship to regional brain volumes and psychiatric symptoms. Psychiatry Res.: Neuroimaging 116, 1–23.
- Shapleske, J., Rossell, S.L., Woodruff, P.W.R., David, A.S., 1999. The planum temporale: a systematic, quantitative review of its structural, functional and clinical significance. Brain Res. Rev. 29, 26–49.
- Shenton, M.E., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F.A., Pollak, S.D., LeMay, M., Wible, C.G., Hokama, H., Martin, J., Metcalf, D., Coleman, M., McCarley, R.W., 1992. Abnormalities of the left temporal lobe and thought disorder in schizophrenia. A quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study. N. Engl. J. Med. 327, 604–612.
- Shenton, M.E., Wible, C.G., McCarley, R.W., 1997. A review of magnetic resonance imaging studies of brain abnormalities in schizophrenia. In: Krishnan, R.R., Doraiswamy, M. (Eds.), Brain Imaging in Clinical Psychiatry. Marcel Decker, New York.
- Shenton, M., Dickey, C.C., Frumin, M., McCarley, R.W., 2001. A review of MRI findings in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 49, 1–52.

Shergill, S.S., Brammer, M.J., Williams, S.C., Murray, R.M., McGuire, P.K., 2000. Mapping auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia using functional magnetic resonance imaging. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57, 1033–1038.

Sumich, A., Chitnis, X.A., Fannon, D.G., O'Ceallaigh, S., Doku, V.C., Falrowicz, A., Marshall, N., Matthew, V.M., Potter, M., Sharma, T., 2002. Temporal lobe abnormalities in first-episode psychosis. Am. J. Psychiatry 159, 1232–1235.

Takahashi, T., Suzuki, M., Zhou, S.Y., Tanino, R., Hagino, H., Kawasaki, Y., Matsui, M., Seto, H., Kurachi, M., 2006. Morphologic alterations of the parcellated superior temporal gyrus in schizophrenia spectrum. Schizophr. Res. 83, 131–143.

Taylor, J.L., Blanton, R.E., Levitt, J.G., Caplan, R., Nobel, D., Toga, A.W., 2005. Superior temporal gyrus differences in childhood-onset schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 73, 235–241.

Tregellas, J.R., Shatti, S., Tanabe, J.L., Martin, L.F., Gibson, L., Wylie, K., Rojas, D.C., 2007. Gray matter volume differences and the effects of smoking on gray matter in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 97, 242–249.

Tune, L., Barta, P., Wong, D., Powers, R.E., Pearlson, G., Tien, A.Y., Wagner, H.N., 1996. Striatal dopamine D2 receptor quantification and superior temporal gyrus: volume determination in 14 chronic schizophrenic subjects. Psychiatry Res.: Neuroimaging 67, 155–158.

van Haren, N.E., Hulshoff Pol, H.E., Schnack, H.G., Cahn, W., Mandl, R.C., Collins, D.L., Evans, A.C., Kahn, R.S., 2007. Focal gray matter changes in schizophrenia across the course of the illness: a 5-year follow-up study. Neuropsychopharmacology. 32, 2057–2066.

van Haren, N.E., Cahn, W., Hulshoff Pol, H.E., Kahn, R.S., 2008. Schizophrenia as a progressive brain disease. Eur. Psychiatry 23, 245–254.

Vita, A., Dieci, M., Giobbio, G.M., Caputo, A., Ghiringhelli, L., Comazzi, M., Garbarini, M., Mendini, A.P., Morganti, C., Tenconi, F., Cesana, B., Invernizzi, G., 1995. Language and thought disorder in schizophrenia: brain morphological correlates. Schizophr. Res. 15, 243–251.

Vogeley, K., Hobson, T., Schneder-Axmann, T., Honer, W.G., Bogerts, B., Falkai, P., 1998. Compartmental volumetry of the superior temporal gyrus reveals sex differences in schizophrenia—a post-mortem study. Schizophr. Res. 31, 83–87.

Wolf, R.C., Höse, A., Frasch, K., Walter, H., Vasic, N., 2008. Volumetric abnormalities associated with cognitive deficits in patients with schizophrenia. Eur. Psychiatry 23, 541–548.

Woodruff, P.W., Wright, I.C., Shuriquie, N., Russouw, H., Rushe, T., Howard, R.J., Graves, M., Bullmore, E.T., Murray, R.M., 1997. Structural brain abnormalities in male schizophrenics reflect fronto-temporal dissociation. Psychol. Med. 27, 1257–1266.

Wright, I.C., Rabe-Hesketh, S., Woodruff, P.W.R., David, A.S., Murray, R.M., Bullmore, E.T., 2000. Meta-analysis of regional brain volumes in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 157, 16–25.

Yamasaki, S., Yamasue, H., Abe, O., Yamada, H., Iwanami, A., Hirayasu, Y., Nakamura, M., Furukawa, S., Rogers, M.A., Tanno, Y., Aoki, S., Kato, N., Kasai, K., 2007. Reduced planum temporale volume and delusional behaviour in patients with schizophrenia. Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 257, 318–324.

Yamasue, H., Iwanami, A., Hirayasu, Y., Yamada, H., Abe, O., Kuroki, N., Fukuda, R., Tsujii, K., Aoki, S., Ohtomo, K., Kato, N., Kasai, K., 2004a. Localized volume reduction in prefrontal, temporolimbic, and paralimbic regions in schizophrenia: an MRI parcellation study. Psychiatry Res: Neuroimaging 131, 195–207.

Yamasue, H., Yamada, H., Yumoto, M., Kamio, S., Kudo, N., Uetsuki, M., Abe, O., Fukuda, R., Aoki, S., Ohtomo, K., Iwanami, A., Kato, N., Kasai, K., 2004b. Abnormal association between reduced magnetic mismatch field to speech sounds and smaller left planum temporale volume in schizophrenia. NeuroImage 22, 720–727.